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1. Name of property

historic name __Hanes, Robert M., House

other names/site number _ N/A

2. Location

street & number __ 140 North Stratford Road not for publication _N/A
city or town Winston-Salem vicinity _N/A

state _North Carolina code _NC_ county _Forsyth code _067  zip code _27104

3. State/Federal Agency Certification
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count)
_X_ private _X building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
____ public-local ___district _ 4 0 buildings
____public-State ___site 1 0 sites
____public-Federal ____ structure 0 0 structures
___object _ 0 0 objects
.5 0 Total

Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources previously
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) listed in the National Register
N/A

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: _DOMESTIC Sub: _single dwelling

DOMESTIC secondary structure
LANDSCAPE garden

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: _ DOMESTIC Sub: _ single dwelling

DOMESTIC secondary structure
LANDSCAPE garden

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
Colonial Revival

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation _BRICK

roof Slate

walls BRICK
WOOD

other BRICK
WOOD

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Forsyth County, NC

County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing)

A Property is associated with events that have
made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

X B Property is associated with the lives of
persons significant in our past.

_X C Property embodies the distinctive
characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or
possesses high artistic values, or represents a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components
lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.
a birthplace or a grave.

C

D acemetery.
E areconstructed building, object,or structure.
F

a commemorative property.

)

less than 50 years of age or achieved

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Economics

Landscape Architecture

Period of Significance
1927 — 1959

Significant Dates
1927

1937

1959

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Hanes, Robert M.

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder

significance within the past 50 years. Kasn Chatlas Barten arahitsct

Shipman, Ellen Biddle, landscape architect

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS)

___preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested.
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____previously determined eligible by the National Register

____designated a National Historic Landmark
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____recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _2.48

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
117 565100 3994900 3
2 4

See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

namet/title Laura A. W. Phillips, Architectural Historian

organization N/A date__March 18, 2012
street & number_637 North Spring Street telephone__336-727-1968

city or town Winston-Salem state_NC zip code __27101

12. Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPQO.)

name _ Sandra Reid Reynolds
street & number_140 North Stratford Road telephone_336-724-0460
city or town Winston-Salem state_NC__ zip code _27104
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DESCRIPTION
Materials, cont’d.

Other - Cast stone
Stucco

Summary and Setting

Located at 140 North Stratford Road in what is now referred to as the Buena Vista
neighborhood of Winston-Salem, the Robert M. Hanes House faces east on a large, landscaped
lot of 2.48 acres. The property consists of the 1926-1927 Georgian Revival-style house designed
by Philadelphia architect Charles Barton Keen, the garage of the same date, the ca. 1936
playhouse, and the landscape associated with the property. A brick wall runs along North
Stratford Road marking the front of the property. An asphalt driveway enters the north end of
the property from North Stratford Road, circles in front of the house, and returns to North
Stratford Road at the property’s south end. North of the house, the driveway branches off
westward in a straight line to a small, paved parking area and the garage. A short driveway
heads north from the parking area and exits the property onto Warwick Road. The driveway
system appears on the 1926 map of Stratford Place (Plat Book 7, p. 20). Behind the house is a
two-level formal garden designed by New York landscape architect Ellen Biddle Shipman and
created in 1937. It includes two pools and a brick and lattice garden house. The remainder of
the landscape includes lawns in front of the house and on the west side of the property, a chain-
link fenced yard behind the garage, a vegetable garden area at the northwest corner of the
property, and wooded areas that line the north and south side boundaries of the property.

House Contributing building
1926-1927

Exterior
Unless otherwise noted, described features are original.

The two-and-a-half-story, Georgian Revival-style Robert M. Hanes House has a formal
composition and classical details. The masonry foundation and above-ground construction is
reinforced with steel supports and beams. The house has Flemish-bond brick walls and a side-
gable slate-shingled roof with a modillion cornice across the front and rear and cornice returns at
each end. Interior brick chimneys with corbeled caps rise above each gable end. Across the



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Hanes, Robert M., House
Section Number 7 Page 2 Forsyth County, North Carolina

front slope of the roof, three evenly spaced dormers have round-arched double-hung sash
windows with a keystone detail at the top of the arched surround, side pilasters, and a gable roof
with a molded cornice and cornice returns.

The main block of the house has a symmetrical five-bay fagcade with a central entrance
flanked by two French doors on either side. The recessed entrance has a six-panel door topped
by a leaded-glass transom with alternating circles and diamonds. Fluted pilasters flank the door
and support a full classical entablature with a segmental-arched, modillion cornice. The French
doors on either side of the entrance have two leaves, each with a paneled base and a vertical
panel of eight window panes. A four-light transom carries across the top of the two leaves.
Above each door is a round arch outlined with brick with a cast-stone keystone and base blocks.
The semi-circular space filling the arch is stuccoed. On the second story of the facade, six-over-
six sash windows with brick flat arches and wood sills line up above the first-story French doors.
A double window is above the entrance. These are the only windows on the house that have
brick flat-arch lintels. (The others have no defined lintels.) Across the brickwork of the facade,
small spikes are set in the mortar joints. During the Hanes” ownership, their purpose was to train
ivy to grow up the walls.

A one-story porch stretches across the south end of the house and extends several feet
beyond it to the east and west. It has a floor laid with square-cut slate tiles set on the diagonal,
Tuscan columns, a parapeted classical cornice, and a flat roof. The Tuscan columns are
replacements dating from 2008, but are identical in design to the original columns. Two French
doors from the living room open to the porch. The south end’s second story has a central French
door that opens to the roof deck from the master bedroom and a pair of flanking six-over-six sash
windows. The attic half-story has a pair of six-over-six sash windows.

A one-story room projects from the northeast corner of the house. Thought originally to
have been used as the breakfast room, it now serves as the sun porch. It features square Tuscan
posts at the corners, Tuscan columns on the east side, a wood-paneled lower wall, and casement
windows with transoms. The room has a classical cornice and, above that, a recessed parapet
and a flat roof. Running along the frieze and down the southeast corner of the room are metal
rods which, in earlier years, held wisteria. Behind the one-story room at the northeast corner of
the house, two, two-story sections extend northward from the north end of the main block of the
house. The first, directly behind the breakfast room/sun porch, extends northward several feet
beyond the one-story room. It has six-over-six sash windows, a molded cornice, and a flat roof.
West of this two-story section, the other two-story section projects several more feet to the north.
Its gable roof is lower than the main roof, but has the same pitch and has a gable-end brick
chimney. Its molded cornice has cornice returns at the gable end. The attic level of this section
has a pair of four-light casement windows. The north wall of the second story has a pair of
double-leaf casement windows. Each leaf has eight panes. The first story on the east side has a
single six-over-six sash window. Along the east wall, concrete steps with a brick wall and a pipe
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railing at the top lead down to two basement doors. A one-story projection with a hipped roof
extends northward from the north end of this two-story wing. The east third is brick, and the
west two-thirds is an enclosed service porch. The brick section has a single six-light casement
window. The service porch has a wood-paneled lower wall on the north and west sides, above
which are double-leaf casement windows. At the northwest corner, the door to the service porch
has a two-panel, wood, lower section and a twelve-light upper section.

The rear of the house is much more irregular than the fagade. The two-story wing at the
north end of the house has casement windows along the second story for the sleeping porch.
Below this, a three-part window provides light to the kitchen. It has a central eight-over-eight
sash window with a four-over-four sash window on either side. Immediately to the south is a
wood-paneled door to the service hall with a three-light transom; south of the door is a narrow,
casement bathroom window. Centered above this door and window on the second story is a six-
over-six sash bathroom window. An interior brick chimney with a corbelled cap rises from the
roof just south of this two-story section of the house. Near the center of the rear elevation is a
gabled wing whose westward projection is slightly beyond the two-story north end of the house
but much farther beyond the south end of the house. On the west side, its attic level has a pair of
window-sized louvered vents. The second story has a three-part window with a central eight-
over-eight sash flanked by a pair of four-over-four sash. Below it, on the first-story, is a nearly
identical, but larger, three-part window with an eight-over-twelve center sash and flanking four-
over-six sash. The south side of the rear wing features a six-over-six sash window at the second-
story level and a double-leaf French door with transom on the first story. The French door is a
recent replacement that is identical to the original, which had become greatly deteriorated. The
remaining portion of the rear elevation — from the rear wing to the south-end porch — returns to
some of the formality associated with the facade of the house, including the use of a modillion
cornice. The center bay, aligned with the center hall of the house, has a three-part doorway on
the first story composed of a central, double-leaf French door and flanking windows but no
transom. Like the French door on the south side of the rear wing, this doorway is a recent
replacement, but it was custom-made to be identical to the original doorway. Above it, at the
interior stair landing, is a fancy Palladian window. The round-arched, keystoned center section
has a brick border and contains a nine-over-nine sash window with Gothic-arched muntins at the
top. It is flanked by a pair of narrow two-over-two sash windows. Classical pilasters with a
classical cornice border the side windows. To the south of this bay are two French doors with
transoms on the first story and a pair of six-over-six sash windows on the second story.
Although simpler than those on the front slope of the roof, two well-detailed, gabled dormers are
on the rear roof slope along with a small, triangular, louvered vent near the roof ridge.
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Interior
As with the exterior, described interior features are original unless otherwise noted.
Overview

The interior of the Robert M. Hanes House is well detailed and remarkably well
preserved, with very few changes, as described below. The main first-floor rooms are the most
formal and elaborate in the house, as these are the areas seen by visitors. By contrast, the service
wing at the northwest corner of the house and the second floor rooms are plainer, but are replete
with practical features, including a multitude of closets and built-in storage cabinets. Except for
the library walls, which are paneled pine, the walls and ceilings throughout the house are
plastered. On the first story, the floors of the center hall, living room, dining room, library, and
service hall are composed of a random-width mix of quarter-sawn and plain-sawn oak boards.
All but the service hall floor have decorative wood pegs at the joints. After suffering water
damage ca. 2000, the flooring of the east-west section of the service hall was replaced with
identical oak flooring. The sun porch has a green tile floor. The floors on the second story have
standard two-inch, plain-sawn oak boards that appear to have a walnut stain. Each room has an
Art Deco-style Johnson Control System thermostat to regulate the heat, encased radiators,
unusual brass toggle light switches in the main first-floor rooms, and brass (first floor) or glass
(second floor) door knobs. Cornices in the center hall, living room, and dining room are plaster
cast; those in the other rooms are wood. The house’s seven bathrooms — one on the first floor,
four on the second floor, one in the attic, and one in the basement for servants — all retain
original fixtures, except for replacement toilet seats. All second-floor bathrooms retain their
original green or blue tile floors. The floor tiles of the first-floor bathroom required replacement
during Reynolds ownership. The tile floors in the butler’s pantry, kitchen, laundry room, and
service porch are also replacements, and the kitchen has been remodeled to suit modern needs.

First Floor

The front entrance opens to a wide center hall, from which doors provide access to the
living room, dining room, and library. At the rear of the hall, French doors with sidelights open
to the terrace. A graceful stair with turned balusters, a molded handrail, curvilinear stair
brackets, a paneled spandrel, and a spiral newel rises east to west on the south side of the rear
half of the hall. The acorn-shaped, Czech crystal ceiling light fixture at the rear of hall is
repeated on the second floor. An intricate cornice with acanthus and acorn-and-dart motifs and a
fluted fascia carries around the center hall, along with a decorative chair rail that continues up
the stair wall to the second floor. At the front of the hall, round-arched doorways with heavy,
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raised-panel doors open to the living room on the south and the dining room on the north. At the
rear of the hall, doors to the living room on the south side and to the library and transverse
service hall on the north side have classical crossetted architraves.

The living room stretches from the front of the house to the rear. The six French doors
that open to the outside make the living room a light-filled space. Here the decorative details are
slightly more restrained than in the hall. The walls have no chair rail. A heavily molded,
dentiled cornice surrounds the room and shallow, stepped banding encircles the perimeter of the
ceiling. At the center of the ceiling is a shallow, circular, plaster ceiling medallion with a
concentric flower motif. The focal point of the living room is the delicately carved, Neo-
classical marble mantel of the south wall fireplace. A guilloche band with alternating flower
rosettes carries across the frieze above a beaded band. At the center of the frieze is an oval with
a bouquet of carved flowers. The side pilasters are topped by acanthus consoles with trailing
bellflowers. On the north and south walls of the living room are unusual Chinoiserie girondels —
mirrored wall sconces — in the Chippendale style with an etched-glass oriental boat scene that
stands out brilliantly with a pair of electric candles.

Across the hall, the dining room is a little less than half the size of the living room. It
features a raised-panel wainscot, a molded cornice, and a ceiling treatment like that in the living
room. At the north end of the room, the projecting fireplace has a wood mantel with a three-part
frieze and a crossetted architrave. Black marble faces the firebox surround and the hearth. The
dining room walls have fancy, oval, silver wall sconces, each with a pair of twisted, curvilinear
crystal arms that hold electric candles encircled by cut-crystal drops. Most of the sconces retain
necklace-like swags of cut-crystal beads.

East of the dining room fireplace, French doors open to the sun porch, originally the
breakfast room. This room has a green tile floor and baseboard and is lined on the east and north
sides by casement windows. A swinging door on the west wall opens to the butler’s pantry.

At the west end of the center hall, on the north side, a door opens to the library. The feel
of this room is very different from the other rooms in the house. Although the plastered ceiling
has the same stepped banding found in the living and dining rooms, the walls are richly paneled
with knotty, pumpkin-colored pine and have a wood cornice. The east wall and part of the north
wall are lined with adjustable shelves atop raised-panel, double-door cabinets. The fireplace at
the north end of the room has a wood mantel with a molded shelf, a pulvinated frieze with a
central rectangular tablet, and a crossetted architrave. Both the hearth and the facing of the
firebox surround are marble. Above the fireplace are two rare girondel sconces similar to those
in the living room but oval in shape and with a well-detailed, etched-glass scene of a three-
masted ship with sails and nets. West of the fireplace, a door opens to a half bath, which is also
accessed by the rear service hall.

Between the library and the dining room, a door from the formal center hall opens to a
long, narrow, transverse service hall that turns at a right angle at its north end to continue
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westward to a rear exit. The service hall has a molded chair rail and baseboard. Along the east
wall, from south to north, is a closet, the plain service stair, a door beneath the stair to the
basement, and a door to the butler’s pantry. The south wall of the east-west section of the
service hall has two closets and a door to the bathroom.

The large butler’s pantry, located between the breakfast room/sun porch and the kitchen,
has upper walls lined with shelving with glass-paned doors. Beneath the shelves are wood
cabinets and drawers with brass hardware and dark wood countertops. Some of the cabinets on
the east wall have pull-out drawers for linen storage, while the cabinets on the south wall have a
pull-out shelf that provides additional work space. The east half of the south wall has taller
cabinets that reach to the top of the glass-doored shelves. On the north wall, the wood
countertop next to the sink is incised with lines that deepen as they approach the sink, forming a
built-in drain board. It no longer serves its intended function, however, because the adjacent sink
is a replacement of the original and is higher than the countertop. The replacement sink, itself, is
of interest, because it connects to a Hot Point dishwasher, forming a single unit with an
enameled-metal front and a stainless-steel sink, drain board, and back splash. The
sink/dishwasher unit appears to date from the 1950s or early 1960s. On the narrow section of the
west wall of the butler’s pantry, between the doors to the service hall and the kitchen, is a built-in
water fountain for filling pitchers and glasses. It has a concave back, a round-arched top, and a
small, round sink to catch any spills.

The kitchen, located west of the butler’s pantry, was completely remodeled for modern
use in the 1970s and 1980s. The walls are lined with white wood cabinets and kitchen
appliances, and in the center of the room is an angular island. An original circular exhaust fan
remains high on the west wall.

From the northeast corner of the kitchen, a door opens to a narrow laundry room. From
the northwest corner of the kitchen, a door opens to the service porch. The service porch retains
its wood cabinets and a wood countertop along the east wall, but the small, stainless-steel sink
set into the counter is a recent replacement. The north and west walls are filled with casement
windows.

Second Floor

The center hall stair rises gracefully to the second floor, the handrail ramped at every
directional turn. At the midway stair landing, a large Palladian window provides both light and
classical formality. The decorative chair rail that follows the stair continues around the second-
floor stair landing, as does a heavily-molded cornice. Otherwise, the treatment of the second
floor detailing is much simpler than that of the first floor. The second floor, while remaining
refined in its simplicity, consists of a collection of highly practical spaces for sleeping, bathing,
dressing, and storing. Here there are low baseboards and more narrow cornice moldings, and
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doors are six-paneled with glass knobs and simple molded surrounds. There are four bedrooms —
three across the front of the house and one on the rear — and four bathrooms. Bedroom mantels
are wood, but with marble hearths and firebox surrounds. They feature a frieze with three panels
and carved medallions at either end, along with fluted side pilasters that taper from top to
bottom. Several of the rooms have wall sconces that are simpler than those on the first floor and
of varied design. The transverse hall contains the service stair to the attic. A sleeping porch is
located at the northwest corner of the second floor.

Perhaps the most distinctive features of the second floor are its bathrooms and storage
spaces. The bathrooms all retain their original fixtures — bathtubs, pedestal sinks, and toilets.
The master bath also has a shower with a glass and stainless steel door bordered by square blue
tiles. Bathroom floors are covered with square or hexagonal blue or green tiles that rise to form
baseboards. Walls are white tiled. Dressing rooms that are adjacent to the bathrooms have one
or more walls that are lined with built-in drawers and other storage cabinets. Opening from the
east side of the transverse hall are a large, walk-in linen closet and a small work closet.

Attic

Reached by the service stair, the attic is finished with wood floors and plaster walls and
ceilings. It consists of a large room that spans the main block of the house. A smaller room is
located above the butler’s pantry at the north end of the attic. Within the projecting rear space
are a small bathroom and a small room for storage and a fan apparatus. The only unfinished
room is the attic space above the kitchen, where the roof is lower than the main roof.

Basement

A partial basement that is approximately half the length of the house has riveted-steel
supports. It is reached from both an interior stair from the first-floor service hall and an exterior
stair at the north end of the house. The stair from the service hall has a steel pipe railing and
opens to a large central room. Basement walls are brick and floors are concrete. At the west end
of the center room, a vault door opens to a storage room for wine or other valuables. Northeast
of the interior stair, a five-panel wood door opens to the furnace room, which is several steps
lower than the main floor. An exterior entrance with a replacement door also opens to the
furnace room. Another basement space has a pair of coal chutes from the north end of the house
and a built-in incinerator. At the southeast corner of the main basement room, a five-panel wood
door enters a secondary room that houses both a servants’ bathroom with a wall sink and wood
toilet stall and two pressure tanks — presumably grease traps — for handling coagulant waste. A
wood coat rack runs along the north wall of this room. Adjacent to the servants’ bathroom on
the north is another five-panel wood door that opens from the main basement room to a storage
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room with wood shelves. At the northeast corner of the basement is a wash room. Along the
north wall is a long, meta, utility sink that is divided into three sections. At the southwest corner
of the room, a five-panel wood door opens to a small closet. A replacement door at the room’s
northwest corner opens to the outside stair.

Garage Contributing building
1926-1927

The garage stands northwest of the house. It is a one-and-one-half-story, Flemish-bond
brick structure with a slate-shingle, side-gable roof that is detailed with a molded cornice and
cornice returns at the gable ends. The main (south) three bays were built at the same time as the
house, 1926-1927. Frank Hanes, who was seven years old when his family moved into the
house, believes that the entire garage was built at that time. However, both documentary
evidence (the 1926 plat of Stratford Place and the 1928 Sanborn Map) and physical evidence
suggest that it was built in two phases. The north bay of the garage appears to have been built
after the original construction, but perhaps not long after. Both the 1926 plat and the 1928
Sanborn map depict a symmetrical structure with a one-story room projecting from the center of
the west side. The present garage is one-bay longer to the north than to the south and the
brickwork of that northern bay, though it is also laid in Flemish bond, is clearly different from
that of the rest of the building.

The garage faces east and is four bays wide. The south three bays have a row of three
metal tilt doors, which are probably replacements of the originals. The northernmost bay has a
double-leaf door, each leaf having a wood-paneled lower half and a nine-light upper half. Long,
metal, strap hinges are found at the top, bottom, and center of the doors. Four inset gabled
dormers with six-over-six sash windows are evenly spaced along the east slope of the roof. The
west slope has only two dormers, like those on the front except that they are not inset. One is in
the center of the south three bays, while the other is in the north bay. The north bay of the west
side (rear) of the garage has a six-panel door. A one-story, shed-roofed room projects westward
from the center of the garage’s south three bays. It has a door with wood panels in the lower half
and nine lights in the upper half that is similar to the vehicular doors on the north bay of the east
side (front) of the garage. Casement windows flank the projecting room. Each end of the garage
has a pair of eight-light casement windows on the first floor and a six-over-six sash window that
lights the upper half story. A triangular louvered vent is in the peak of each gable end. An
interior brick chimney rises just west of the roof ridge at either end of the south three bays. A
paneled door near the west corner of the south elevation opens to a stair that rises to the three
rooms plus bath in the upper half story where the Hanes’s cook lived. (These rooms were not
accessible to the consultant.) The interior of the main level of the garage consists of one large
space within the south three bays and another, smaller, space in the north bay.
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Playhouse Contributing building
Ca. 1936

The playhouse stands immediately north of the garage and faces west. It was built for
Anne Hanes, daughter of Robert and Mildred Hanes, around 1936. The one-story frame
structure has German siding, an asphalt-shingled side-gable roof, a rear chimney, and four-over-
four sash windows on the west, north, and south sides. The three-bay facade’s center entrance is
sheltered by a small gabled porch with square support posts. The interior was not accessible for
viewing.

Landscape Contributing site
1926-1937

The landscape of the Hanes House consists of several sections. East of the house is a
broad lawn located within the brick wall that runs along North Stratford Road and the circular
driveway. Several of its original trees have died over the years, but there is a wooded area along
the east edge of the lawn, just within the brick wall, and other wooded areas are found along the
north and south sides of the property outside the curved drive. Currently, a small garden with
rose bushes and crepe myrtles is located within the curve of the driveway across from the front
entrance of the house. The Flemish-bond brick wall at the front of the property, built at the same
time as the house, is approximately three-and-one-half feet tall and has a flagstone coping. Posts
approximately seven feet tall stand at each entrance to the circular driveway. Statuary lions atop
the entrance posts were added during the Reynolds’ ownership.

Northwest of the house, the landscape is more service oriented. Stretching westward
from the service porch at the northwest corner of the house to the garage is a recently installed
vinyl lattice fence. West of the garage, a chain link fence encloses a large dog yard. West of the
dog yard is an area sometimes used for a vegetable garden.

South of the house, a long east-west lawn runs from the driveway to the rear of the
property. Itis lined on the south by a curvilinear stretch of English ivy and a border of trees of
different types. A chain link fence runs along the rear of the property.

Although the original, general landscaping is believed to have been designed by
Philadelphia landscape architect Thomas Sears as part of the 1926 Stratford Place development,
the landscape of greatest significance is the garden that runs from the rear of the house westward
to the garden house at the rear of the property. Designed by New York landscape architect Ellen
Biddle Shipman in 1937, it retains its original plan and structural features and some of the
plantings.
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Adjacent to the rear of the house, a relatively narrow flagstone terrace runs from the
south porch to the projecting rear wing. It was probably built at the same time as the house.
Shipman’s plan begins with a greatly expanded terrace. Itis paved with large flagstones of
different sizes, many of which are now broken and/or buckled due to the encroaching roots of a
pair of enormous pin oaks. At the center of the terrace is an octagonal pool, currently covered
with a plywood lid to prohibit the growth of mosquitoes. Small flower beds are arranged
asymmetrically around the pool and contain hostas, day lilies, and in the spring, such flowers as
narcissus and jonquils. Southeast of the pool, and closer to the house, is a small, brick-bordered,
flower bed with hostas surrounded by liriope. Originally it was the site of a flowering tree.

The terrace opens westward between two huge oak trees to the center of the garden, a
roughly rectangular lawn with curved corners bordered by large boxwoods. Several weeping
cherry and other flowering trees once stood in this area, but they do not survive. The garden’s
focal point is the fish pool in the center of the lawn. The roughly rectangular pool has long,
narrow ends extending to the east and west and a center section that is about one foot wider to
the north and south. The pool is bordered by intermixed liriope, yellow day lilies, and roses.

Although the garden retains its structural features, some of the plantings have changed
over the years. Shipman’s planting plan shows a multitude of flowers throughout the garden.
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